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I. Introduction

It is difficult for the U.S. government to prove that an individual taxpayer had 
“actual knowledge” of his duty to file a FinCEN Form 114 (“FBAR”) to report 
foreign accounts and “willfully” violated such duty. Indeed, short of present-
ing incriminating emails by the taxpayer, presenting damning statements by an 
accountant, and the like, it is a challenge to demonstrate, to the satisfaction of 
a federal court, that a taxpayer knew of the FBAR obligation and deliberately 
defied it. This is particularly true when dealing with a sympathetic taxpayer, such 
as a first-time expatriate whose foreign presence is solely the result of a mandate 
by his employer, an immigrant to the United States who left behind in his home 
country certain after-tax savings or retirement accounts, or a U.S. citizen and 
resident who inherits a foreign account upon the death of a relative who lived 
abroad. Other examples with equally compelling facts abound.

Faced with this dilemma, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and the 
Department of Justice (“DOJ”) now regularly raise multiple theories for FBAR 
liability, employing the throw-everything-at-the-wall-and-see-what-sticks tech-
nique. This often includes allegations that the taxpayer knew about the FBAR 
duty, which is “actual knowledge,” or, alternatively, he should have known about 
the FBAR duty, which is “constructive knowledge.” The IRS and DOJ frequently 
rely on two separate facts in advancing the second positon, namely, the taxpayer 
signed his Form 1040 (U.S. Individual Income Tax Return) before filing it with 
the IRS, and the taxpayer neglected to check the “yes” box in response to the 
question at the very bottom of Schedule B (Interest and Ordinary Dividends) 
to Form 1040 about the existence of foreign accounts. This, contends the IRS 
and DOJ, constitutes “constructive knowledge” by the taxpayer and warrants 
a very large FBAR penalty for a “willful” violation. To make matters worse for 
taxpayers, several courts have accepted this argument in recent years. This article 
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examines the cases focused on this topic, emphasizing 
the newest one, issued in January 2019, Horowitz.1

II. Overview of the Law, Enforcement, 
Duties, and Penalties

Some background on the evolution of the FBAR and the 
duties generally triggered by holding a foreign account 
is essential.

A. A Short History
Congress enacted the Bank Secrecy Act in 1970.2 One 
purpose of this legislation was to require the filing of cer-
tain reports, like the FBAR, where doing so would be 
helpful to the U.S. government in carrying out criminal, 
tax, and regulatory investigations.3

Congress was concerned about widespread 
non-compliance; therefore, it enacted more strin-
gent FBAR penalty provisions in 2004 as part of the 
American Jobs Creation Act (“Jobs Act”).4 Under the 
law in existence before the Jobs Act, the IRS could 
only assert penalties against taxpayers where it could 
demonstrate that they “willfully” violated the FBAR 
rules.5 If the IRS managed to satisfy this high stan-
dard, it could impose a relatively small penalty, rang-
ing from $25,000 to $100,000, regardless of the size 
of the hidden account.6

Thanks to the Jobs Act, the IRS may now impose a 
civil penalty on any person who fails to file an FBAR 
when required, period.7 In the case of non-willful vio-
lations, the maximum penalty is $10,000.8 The Jobs 
Act calls for higher penalties where willfulness exists. 
Specifically, in situations where a taxpayer willfully fails 
to file an FBAR, the IRS may assert a penalty equal to 
$100,000 or 50 percent of the balance in the undisclosed 
account at the time of the violation, whichever amount is 
larger.9 Given the multi-million dollar balances in some 
unreported accounts, FBAR penalties under the Jobs Act 
can be enormous.

B. Disclosure of Foreign Accounts, Other 
Assets, and Income
The relevant law mandates the filing of an FBAR in sit-
uations where (i) a U.S. person, including U.S. citizens, 
U.S. residents, and domestic entities, (ii) had a direct 
financial interest in, had an indirect financial interest in, 
had signature authority over, or had some other type of 
authority over (iii) one or more financial accounts (iv) 

located in a foreign country (v) whose aggregate value 
exceeded $10,000 (vi) at any point during the relevant 
year.10

When it comes to individuals, they have several duties, 
in addition to filing FBARs, linked to holding a report-
able interest in a foreign financial account:

■■ They must check the “yes” box on Schedule B to  
Form 1040 to disclose the existence of the foreign 
account;

■■ They must identify the foreign country in which  
the account is located, also on Schedule B to Form 
1040;

■■ They must declare all income generated by the account 
(such as interest, dividends, and capital gains) on Form 
1040; and

■■ They generally must report the account on Form 8938 
(Statement of Specified Foreign Financial Assets), which is 
enclosed with Form 1040.11

C. Questions and Cross-References on 
Schedule B
One of the duties listed above is checking “yes” to the 
foreign-account inquiry found on Schedule B to Form 
1040. The IRS has slightly modified and expanded this 
language over the years, with the materials for 2017 stat-
ing the following:

At any time during 2017, did you have a financial 
interest in or a signature authority over a financial 
account (such as a bank account, securities account, 
or brokerage account) located in a foreign country? 
See instructions.

If “Yes,” are you required to file FinCEN Form 114, 
Report of Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts 
(FBAR), to report that financial interest or signature 
authority? See FinCEN Form 114 and its instruc-
tions for filing requirements and exceptions to those 
requirements.

If you are required to file a FinCEN Form 114, enter 
the name of the foreign country where the financial 
account is located.

D. The Significance of Signing  
Forms 1040
Taxpayers must sign and date their Forms 1040 in order 
for them to be valid. Unless they pay close attention to 
the small print, most taxpayers will be unaware that they 
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are making the following broad, sworn statement to the 
IRS, which often comes back to haunt them in FBAR 
penalty cases:

Under penalties of perjury, I declare that I have 
examined this return and accompanying schedules 
[including Schedule B] and statements, and to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, they are true, cor-
rect, and accurately list all amounts and sources of 
income I received during the tax year.

III. Main Cases and Positions 
Regarding Constructive Knowledge

A growing number of courts have examined the issue 
of what constitutes “willfulness” in the context of civil 
FBAR penalties.12 Notable decisions include Williams in 
2012,13 McBride in 2012,14 Bussell in 2015,15 Bohanec in 
2016,16 United States in 2017,17 Kelley-Hunter in 2017,18 
Toth in 2017,19 Colliot in 2018,20 Wadhan in 2018,21 
Garrity in 2018,22 Markus in 2018,23 United States in 
2018,24 Flume in 2018,25 Kimble in 2018,26 and, most 
recently, Horowitz in 2019.27

Several of the preceding cases center on whether the 
taxpayer had “constructive knowledge” of his FBAR 
filing duty. The argument presented by the IRS and 
DOJ in such cases can be summarized as follows: (i) 
The taxpayer signed his Form 1040 under penalties 
of perjury, thereby representing that he reviewed the 
entire Form 1040, including Schedule B; (ii) Schedule 
B put the taxpayer on notice of his potential FBAR 
duty; (iii) To the extent that the taxpayer had ques-
tions about the FBAR, Schedule B expressly directed 
the taxpayer to the Instructions to Form 1040, the 
FBAR itself, and the Instructions to the FBAR; (iv) If 
the taxpayer checked the “no” box in response to the 
foreign-account question on Schedule B, then he filed 
a false Form 1040, he was aware of the FBAR duty, and 
his FBAR violation was willful; and (v) If the taxpayer 
instead left the box blank, answering neither “yes” nor 
“no” about foreign accounts, and if the taxpayer pro-
fesses not to have reviewed Form 1040 or Schedule B, 
then his FBAR violation was willful because he had 
constructive knowledge of the FBAR duty, he was on 
inquiry notice, he was “willfully blind,” he showed 
“reckless disregard” for the rules, or some combination 
thereof. Set forth below is a review of the most note-
worthy cases addressing the “constructive knowledge” 
issue.

A. Williams
Williams was a multi-year, multi-issue case, with stops 
in the Tax Court, District Court, and, ultimately, the 
Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals. Here, we address 
only the final decision, by the Fourth Circuit Court of 
Appeals, because of its focus on the issue of “willfulness.”

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals began its anal-
ysis by criticizing the legal standards on which the 
District Court made its taxpayer-friendly decision. In 
particular, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals indi-
cated that the District Court should not have focused 
on the taxpayer’s motivation for not filing an FBAR.28 
Then, noting various judicial precedents in the crim-
inal arena, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals went 
on to state what it considered the proper legal standard. 
It explained that (i) willfulness can be inferred from 
taxpayer conduct designed to conceal financial infor-
mation, and (ii) willfulness can also be inferred from 
a taxpayer’s conscious effort to avoid learning about 
reporting requirements, i.e., “willful blindness” exists 
where a taxpayer knew of a high probability of a tax 
liability yet intentionally avoided the pertinent facts.29 
In situations where willfulness is a condition for civil 
liability, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals indicated 
that this covers both knowing and reckless violations.30 
It then clarified that the taxpayer’s actions or inactions 
in Williams constituted, at a minimum, “reckless con-
duct, which satisfies the proof requirement [for civil 
FBAR violations].”31

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals supported its 
decision on several grounds. It pointed out that the tax-
payer signed the relevant Form 1040 under penalties of 
perjury, thereby swearing that he had examined the Form 
1040, as well as all Schedules and Statements attached to 
such Form 1040, and that all items were true, accurate, 
and complete. The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals then 
explained that taxpayers who execute a Form 1040 are 
deemed to have constructive knowledge of such Form 
1040, and the taxpayer in Williams was no exception to 
that principle. According to the Fourth Circuit Court of 
Appeals, the questions and cross-references in Part III of 
Schedule B to Form 1040 put the taxpayer on inquiry 
notice of the FBAR duty.32 The taxpayer in Williams tes-
tified that he did not review his Form 1040 in general 
or read the information in Schedule B in particular. The 
Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals interpreted this inac-
tion as conduct designed to conceal financial informa-
tion, a conscious effort to avoid learning about reporting 
requirements, and “willful blindness” to the FBAR 
requirement.33
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The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals also held that 
the taxpayer’s admissions at the earlier criminal pro-
ceeding further confirmed that his failure to file a timely 
FBAR for 2000 was willful.34 Seizing on one tiny por-
tion of the taxpayer’s allocution, the Fourth Circuit 
Court of Appeals concluded that the taxpayer admitted 
his knowledge of the FBAR duty because he used the 
phrase “Department of the Treasury.” This line of rea-
soning was as follows:

During that allocution, [the taxpayer] acknowledged 
that he willfully failed to report the existence of the 
ALQI accounts to the IRS or Department of the 
Treasury as part of his larger scheme of tax evasion. 
This failure to report the ALQI accounts is an admis-
sion of violating [the FBAR rules] because a taxpayer 
complies with the [FBAR rules] by filing an FBAR 
with the Department of the Treasury.35

B. McBride
The District Court in McBride cited the general rule that 
all taxpayers are charged with knowledge, awareness, and 
responsibility for all tax returns executed under penalties 
of perjury and filed with the IRS. The District Court 
next recognized that several cases stand for the propo-
sition that the taxpayer’s signature on a tax return does 
not, by itself, prove that the taxpayer had knowledge of 
the contents of the return. The District Court distin-
guished such cases, though, by emphasizing that the lan-
guage therein about “knowledge of the contents of the 
return” refers to the taxpayer’s awareness about specific 
figures/amounts on the return.

When dealing with the FBAR situation, the District 
Court pointed out that “knowledge of what instruc-
tions are contained within the form is directly infer-
able from the contents of the form itself, even if it were 
blank.”36 Fortifying its position, the District Court 
cited and quoted various criminal cases, including a 
criminal FBAR case, where the courts attributed to the 
taxpayer knowledge of the contents of a return based 
solely on the taxpayer’s signature on the tax return.37 
The District Court, eliminating any ambiguity about 
its stance on constructive knowledge, rendered the fol-
lowing holding:

Knowledge of the law, including knowledge of the 
FBAR requirements, is imputed to McBride. The 
knowledge of the law regarding the requirement to 
file an FBAR is sufficient to inform McBride that he 

had a duty to file [an FBAR] for any foreign account 
in which he had a financial interest. McBride signed 
his federal income tax returns for both the tax year 
2000 and 2001. Accordingly, McBride is charged 
with having reviewed his tax return and having 
understood that the federal income tax return 
asked if at any time during the tax year he held 
any financial interest in a foreign bank or financial 
account. The federal income tax return contained 
a plain instruction informing individuals that they 
have the duty to report their interest in any foreign 
financial or bank accounts held during the taxable 
year. McBride is therefore charged with having had 
knowledge of the FBAR requirement to disclose his 
interest in any foreign financial or bank accounts, 
as evidenced by his statement at the time he signed 
the returns, under penalty of perjury, that he read, 
reviewed, and signed his own federal income tax 
returns for the tax years 2000 and 2001, as indicated 
by his signature on the federal income tax returns 
for both 2000 and 2001. As a result, McBride’s will-
fulness is supported by evidence of his false state-
ments on his tax returns for both the 2000 and the 
2001 tax years, and his signature, under penalty of 
perjury, that those statements were complete and 
accurate.38

Although not entirely clear, it appears that Mr. McBride 
argued that he was aware of the FBAR filing requirement, 
but decided not to comply because of his belief, based in 
part on the analysis by his accountant, that he did not 
possess a sufficient interest in the foreign accounts under 
the peculiar FBAR ownership-attribution rules. As the 
culimination to its long analysis of the “willfulness” issue, 
the District Court took an extreme position that, if a tax-
payer executes and files his Form 1040, then all failures 
to file FBARs, regardless of the validity of the taxpayer’s 
rationale for not filing, are willful and vulnerable to max-
imum sanctions.

[E]ven if the decision not to disclose McBride’s in-
terest in the foreign accounts was based on McBride’s 
belief that he did not hold sufficient interest in 
those accounts to warrant disclosure, that failure 
to disclose those interests would constitute willful-
ness. Because McBride signed his tax returns, he is 
charged with knowledge of the duty to comply with 
the FBAR requirements. Whether McBride believed 
[that his accountant] had determined that a disclo-
sure was not required is irrelevant in light of [the 
applicable case], which states that the only question 
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is whether the decision not to disclose was voluntary, 
as opposed to accidental. The government does not 
dispute that McBride’s failure to comply with FBAR 
[sic.] was the result of his belief that he did not have a 
reportable financial interest in the foreign accounts. 
However … the FBAR requirements did require that 
McBride disclose his interest in the foreign accounts 
during both the 2000 and 2001 tax years. As a result, 
McBride’s failure to do so was willful.39

C. Jarnagin
The next case to address the constructive knowledge argu-
ment was Jarnagin.40 There, the IRS assessed non-willful 
FBAR penalties, not willful ones. The issue, therefore, 
was whether the taxpayers had “reasonable cause” and 
the lower penalties should thus be mitigated. As demon-
strated below, Jarnagin still adds to the debate around 
constructive knowledge, despite the fact that the penalty 
standards are different.

The Jarnagins bought property in Canada in the early 
1980s and started operating a ranch there. They split 
their time between Canada and the United States. Larry 
and Linda opened an account at Canadian Imperial 
Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”) in 1986. This account 
remained open during the years at issue, 2006 through 
2010. The balance of the account reached approximately 
$3.5 million. It is unclear from the record whether all the 
passive income generated by the account was properly 
reported on the annual Forms 1040, but it is undisputed 
that (i) the Schedules B to Forms 1040 indicated “no” 
in response to the foreign-account question, and (ii) the 
taxpayers never filed an FBAR disclosing the Canadian 
account.

The DOJ contended that Larry and Linda lacked rea-
sonable cause for their FBAR violations for several rea-
sons. One was that they failed to exercise ordinary care 
and prudence when they did not review their Forms 
1040, even though they signed them, thereby attesting 
that they had examined everything, including the Forms 
1040 and Schedules B, and they were true, accurate, and 
complete. The DOJ presented this argument, citing and 
relying on Williams and McBride.

The Court of Federal Claims analyzed the concepts of 
constructive knowledge and “willful blindness.” It stated 
that exercising ordinary care and prudence means, 
among other things, that taxpayers will “personally read 
and review their completed tax returns carefully.” It also 
stated that the taxpayers were charged with constructive 
knowledge of the contents of Forms 1040, including 

references to the FBAR, by virtue of the fact that they 
executed Forms 1040. The Court of Federal Claims 
then explained that Larry and Linda had a “particular 
obligation” to review Schedule B because Larry was a 
dual U.S.-Canadian citizen, he had business activities 
in Canada, and he maintained a Canadian account with 
millions on deposit. The Court of Federal Claims spec-
ulated that, if Larry and Linda had taken the time to 
review their Forms 1040, then they would have discov-
ered the “obvious error” that their U.S. tax profession-
als committed by checking the “no” box in response to 
the foreign-account question on Schedule B, and they 
would have seen the warning to consult the Instructions 
for more information about FBAR filing duties. The 
Court of Federal Claims summarized its thoughts in the 
following manner:

A reasonable person, particularly one with the 
sophistication, investments, and wealth of the 
Jarnagins, would not have signed their income tax 
returns without reading them, would have identified 
the clear error committed by their accountants, and 
would have sought advice regarding their obligation 
to file [an FBAR].

D. Norman
In Norman, the IRS assessed a willful FBAR penalty for 
2007 in connection with a Swiss account at UBS, the 
taxpayer unsuccessfully challenged the sanction with the 
Appeals Office, the taxpayer fully paid the penalty and 
filed a refund lawsuit with the Court of Federal Claims, 
the DOJ tried to dispense with the matter by filing a 
Motion for Summary Judgment, and the parties ulti-
mately conducted a trial whose sole witness was the tax-
payer herself.41

Despite the existence of the Offshore Voluntary 
Disclosure Program (“OVDP”), the taxpayer made a 
“quiet disclosure” by directly filing with the IRS Forms 
1040X and FBARs for 2003 through 2008. At trial, the 
taxpayer’s theory was that she did not willfully hide the 
UBS account. The Court of Federal Claims underscored 
that the taxpayer presented no evidence whatsoever to 
support her theory, other than her memory, and it was 
inconsistent with the written proof offered by the DOJ.

The Court of Federal Claims pointed out that the 
taxpayer could not remember (i) whether she opened 
the UBS account or received it through inheritance, (ii) 
meeting with a UBS representative in Switzerland to 
open the account, (iii) when she opened the account, 
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and (iv) if she made withdrawals from the account. 
Moreover, explained the Court of Federal Claims, 
during the trial, the taxpayer indicated that she did not 
(i) know the account number, (ii) understand what a 
numbered account was, or (iii) recognize documents 
related to the opening and management of the account, 
the stamped signature of her private banker at UBS, her 
note to UBS instructing it to close the account, or the 
invoice from her accountant for assisting her with the 
“quiet disclosure.”

The Court of Federal Claims also indicated that the 
taxpayer lacked credibility because she made false and/
or inconsistent statements regarding the foreign account 
in her Form 1040 for 2007, her audit interview with 
the Revenue Agent, her letters to the IRS through her 
accountant and her attorney, the Complaint to start the 
refund lawsuit, and her testimony at trial.

In contrast to the “questionable testimony” provided 
by the taxpayer, the DOJ presented evidence that (i) the 
taxpayer signed documents to open a numbered account, 
(ii) she instructed UBS not to invest in U.S. securities, 
(iii) she personally visited UBS in Switzerland, (iv) she 
met on a yearly basis with UBS representatives, (v) 
she withdrew $100,000 from the account, (vi) she was 
informed by UBS in 2008 that it was working with the 
U.S. government regarding disclosure of its U.S. clients, 
and (vii) she then closed her account at UBS and trans-
ferred the funds to Wegelin & Co., the first foreign bank 
to ever plead guilty to U.S. tax law violations.

Based on the preceding, the Court of Federal Claims 
explained that, while the taxpayer might lack sophisti-
cation in financial matters, it could not believe that she 
could manage the account containing a large sum of 
money for over a decade without once reading any doc-
uments or realizing that the account had U.S. tax impli-
cations. Citing to Williams, the Court of Federal Claims 
concluded as follows:

Indeed, at a minimum, Ms. Norman was put on 
inquiry notice of the FBAR requirement when she 
signed her tax return for 2007, but she chose not to 
seek more information about the reporting require-
ments. Although one of the few consistent pieces of 
Ms. Norman’s testimony was that she did not read her 
tax return, simply not reading the return does not shield 
Ms. Norman from the implications of its contents. The 
Court finds that Ms. Norman acted to conceal her 
income and financial information, and also that she 
either recklessly or consciously avoided learning of her 
reporting requirements. Therefore, the Court finds that 
Ms. Norman willfully violated §5314.

E. Kimble
Alice Kimble is a U.S. citizen by birth, as were her late 
parents. At some point before 1980, the parents opened 
an account with UBS in Switzerland, designating Alice 
as a joint owner. In 1983, Alice married Michael, and 
they had a son, David. All three knew about the UBS 
account. The parents supposedly told them to keep it 
a secret because they might need the funds one day to 
flee the country in the event of religious persecution. In 
1998, as joint owner of the UBS account, Alice signed a 
“numbered account agreement,” instructed UBS to hold 
all correspondence, and authorized UBS to invest the 
funds in time-deposits. Alice and Michael met with UBS 
representatives in the United States at least six times over 
the years, and Alice also met with them at least once by 
herself in Switzerland.

Around 1998, Alice and Michael opened an account 
with HSBC in France in order to pay expenses associated 
with their apartment there.

The couple divorced in 2000. Alice did not disclose 
the foreign accounts in any documents filed in con-
nection with the divorce. Soon after the divorce, Alice 
hired Steven Weinstein (“Accountant Weinstein”) to pre-
pare her individual Forms 1040 and state tax returns. 
Accountant Weinstein never asked her about foreign 
accounts, and she never pro-actively disclosed them. 
Moreover, Alice never asked Accountant Weinstein if the 
investment income generated by the UBS and HSBC ac-
counts needed to be reported on Forms 1040.

Alice filed timely Forms 1040 for 2003 through 2008, 
but she never reported any income from the UBS and 
HSBC accounts, and she answered “no” in response to 
the foreign-account question on Schedule B. She also ne-
glected to file FBARs.

Alice claimed to have first learned of her duty to report 
foreign accounts in 2008 from reading a newspaper 
article about issues surrounding UBS. She then hired 
legal counsel. The balance in the UBS account as of the 
2007 FBAR filing deadline (i.e., June 30, 2008) was 
$1,365,662, while the balance of the HSBC account at 
the same time was $134,130.

In April 2009, Alice applied for the OVDP, and she was 
accepted. She filed Forms 1040X and FBARs for 2003 
through 2008 as part of the OVDP. The IRS presented 
her a Closing Agreement at the end of the OVDP pro-
cess, which showed an “offshore” penalty of $377,309. 
Alice then “opted-out” of the OVDP in order to “take 
her chances” with the IRS.

The IRS started an audit in 2013, at the end of which 
the Revenue Agent determined that Alice’s FBAR 
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violations were “willful.” The Revenue Agent based this 
conclusion on the following facts and circumstances: (i) 
Alice had a direct financial interest in the accounts; (ii) 
She checked “no” to the foreign-account question on 
Schedule B to every Form 1040; (iii) She made no efforts 
to inform herself about any U.S. obligations associated 
with inheriting a Swiss account exceeding $1 million; 
(iv) Alice never reported any passive income generated 
by the accounts on her Forms 1040 for decades; (v) Alice 
only approached the IRS through the OVDP after UBS 
notified her that it would be remitting data about all 
U.S. accountholders to the IRS; (vi) Alice made efforts to 
conceal the account; (vii) Alice had active management 
of both foreign accounts; (viii) Alice has no business or 
family connections with Switzerland, where the UBS 
account was located; (ix) Fear of potential religious per-
secution is not an acceptable justification for non-com-
pliance with U.S. law; (x) Alice was non-compliant with 
U.S. tax law even after entering into, and later opt-
ing-out of, the OVDP; (xi) Alice had significant involve-
ment with Accountant Weinstein but did not disclose 
the foreign passive income; and (xii) The income gen-
erated by the foreign accounts was relatively significant, 
constituting more than half of Alice’s overall income in 
certain years.

In July 2016, the IRS assessed a willful FBAR pen-
alty, which Alice fully paid. She then filed a claim for 
refund; the IRS denied it. Alice filed a Complaint in the 
Court of Federal Claims seeking a refund of the FBAR 
penalty. Both the DOJ and Alice ultimately each filed a 
Motion for Summary Judgment, focused on the issue of 
“willfulness.” Alice later conceded the issues related to 
the HSBC account, such that all attention was on the 
UBS account.

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, the DOJ basi-
cally repeated and expanded on the grounds for willful-
ness that the Revenue Agent had previously identified 
during the audit. The DOJ contended that an FBAR 
violation is willful where a taxpayer (i) violates the law 
voluntarily rather than accidentally, (ii) is willfully blind 
to a duty, or (iii) engages in conduct that is in “reckless 
disregard” of a legal duty.

Alice disagreed with the DOJ, of course. Her main 
defenses can be summarized as follows. The DOJ’s inter-
pretation of “willful” is so broad that every taxpayer 
who fails to file an FBAR does so willfully, which is con-
trary to the multi-tiered system of penalties designed by 
Congress. She never read her Forms 1040 and had no 
actual knowledge of the FBAR filing duty until 2008, 
so she could not have made a conscious choice to violate 
her duty. All cases cited by the DOJ involve taxpayers 

involved in significantly more egregious behavior than 
her. Finally, Congress created the large FBAR penalty for 
willful violations in order to punish “bad actors,” and she 
is not one of those; she did not use the UBS account for 
any illegal activities.

The Court of Federal Claims reduced the case to 
its essence, identifying just four facts as “relevant” to 
the determination: (i) Alice did not disclose the UBS 
account to Accountant Weinstein; (ii) Alice never asked 
Accountant Weinstein how to properly report the passive 
income generated by the UBS account; (iii) Alice did not 
review her Forms 1040 for accuracy during the relevant 
years; and (iv) Alice answered “no” in response to the 
foreign-account question on Schedule B to Form 1040, 
thereby “falsely representing under penalties of perjury 
that she had no foreign bank accounts.”

The Court of Federal Claims found that Alice had 
acted willfully, resuscitating earlier judicial reason-
ing about constructive knowledge, willful blindness, 
and reckless disregard. Deciding that it was not even 
necessary to conduct a trial to fully develop the facts, 
the Court of Federal Claims granted the Motion 
for Summary Judgment filed by the DOJ, ruling as 
follows:

In the court’s judgment, [the fact that Alice did not 
review her Forms 1040 for accuracy, she answered 
“no” in response to the foreign-account question 
on Schedule B to Form 1040, and she signed Form 
1040 under penalties of perjury] evidence con-
duct by [Alice], as a co-owner of the UBS account, 
that exhibited a “reckless disregard” of the legal 
duty under federal tax law to report foreign bank 
accounts to the IRS by filing a FBAR. Although 
[Alice] had no legal duty to disclose information 
to her accountant or to ask her accountant about 
IRS reporting requirements, these additional undis-
puted facts do not affect the court’s determination 
that [Alice’s] conduct in this case was “willful.” For 
these reasons, the court has determined, viewing the 
evidence in the light most favorable to [Alice], that 
there is no genuine issue of material fact that [Alice] 
violated 31 U.S.C. §5314 and that her conduct was 
“willful.”

F. Horowitz
The most recent case centered on this issue, Horowitz, 
was issued in January 2019 by the District Court of 
Maryland.
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The main facts in the case are as follows. In 1984, Peter 
Horowitz and his wife, Susan, moved from the United 
States to Saudi Arabia for work reasons; he accepted a job 
with a local hospital. In 1988, Peter and Susan opened 
a joint account with the Foreign Commerce Bank in 
Switzerland, which they funded with earnings from 
Saudi Arabia. A few years later, in 1992, they moved 
back to the United States, but left the account at Foreign 
Commerce Bank open.

Peter and Susan decided to head back to Saudi Arabia 
in 1994, again for professional reasons. They closed the 
account at Foreign Commerce Bank that same year, 
using the funds to open a new joint account, also in 
Switzerland, but this time at UBS. This new account 
was a “hold mail” account whose funds were invested 
in income-producing assets, such as bonds, certificates 
of deposit, and investment funds. In 2001, Peter and 
Susan made the long voyage back to the United States, 
seemingly for good, but left the UBS account open. Peter 
apparently monitored the account from afar by calling 
UBS every year or two.

In November 2008, soon after U.S. news sources 
began reporting that UBS was under investigation, Peter 
traveled to Switzerland, met with UBS representatives to 
close the joint account, and transferred the funds from 
UBS to another Swiss institution, Finter Bank. The bal-
ance in the account at that time of the switch was about 
$1.95 million. The confidentiality level at Finter Bank 
was slightly higher, featuring a numbered account, with 
a “hold mail” designation.

Peter and Susan intended the Finter Bank account, like 
the UBS account before that, to be jointly held. However, 
that did not initially occur, because Finter Bank would 
not permit it without Susan being physically present. 
Peter tried an alternative, which consisted of designat-
ing Susan as power of attorney on the account. This did 
not work either, though, because Susan was not there 
to provide her “specimen signature” on the form called 
“List of Authorized Signatories and Powers of Attorney 
for Natural Persons.”

The specific reasons are unclear, but, in 2010, the 
Horowitzes closed the account at Finter Bank, repatri-
ated the funds, and then applied to resolve their past 
international tax non-compliance through the OVDP. 
They filed Forms 1040X and FBARs for 2003 through 
2008 as part of the OVDP. In December 2012, likely 
after learning the size of the proposed “offshore” penalty, 
the Horowitzes officially “opted-out” of the OVDP, in 
hopes of reducing the sanctions during the audit process.

The Horowitzes used the same accounting firm from 
the 1970s until 2006 to prepare their annual Forms 

1040. The methodology consisted of the following steps. 
The Horowitzes sent the accounting firm self-prepared 
summaries of financial and tax-related information 
(none of which included passive income generated by 
the foreign accounts), they waited to receive the com-
pleted Form 1040, and then they signed and filed it with 
the IRS without much further thought. Peter, who com-
municated with the accounting firm, never asked about 
potential U.S. duties related to foreign accounts. The 
Horowitzes apparently changed accounting firms, start-
ing with the 2007 Form 1040, but used essentially the 
same procedure. In addition to omitting the foreign pas-
sive income, the Forms 1040 were incorrect in that the 
“no” box was checked on Schedule B in response to the 
question about the existence of foreign accounts. Finally, 
the Horowitzes never filed FBARs during the relevant 
years.

In May 2014, at the conclusion of the audit triggered 
by the “opt-out” from the OVDP, the Revenue Agent 
sent the Horowitzes an Examination Report showing, 
among other things, proposed FBAR penalties for 2007 
and 2008. The Revenue Agent informed the Horowitzes 
that, if they wanted to seek review by the Appeals Office, 
they would first need to execute a Consent to Extend 
the Time to Assess Civil Penalties Provided by 31 USC 
§5321 (“FBAR Penalty Assessment Period Extension”). 
They did so.

Nevertheless, before the Horowitzes got their oppor-
tunity to file a Protest Letter and have a conference with 
the Appeals Office, the IRS “assessed” FBAR penalties 
against each of Peter and Susan for 2007 and 2008 on 
June 13, 2014, and sent demand letters. Together, the 
penalties totaled 50 percent of the highest balance in the 
UBS account, which was transferred to the Finter Bank 
account in 2008.

On June 23, 2014, the Horowitzes filed a Protest 
Letter disputing the FBAR penalties. The Appeals 
Officer assigned to the case noticed that the Horowitzes 
had previously executed the FBAR Penalty Assessment 
Period Extension, such that the IRS had until December 
31, 2015, to make an assessment. Under these circum-
stances, the Appeals Officer took steps to get the FBAR 
penalties “removed/reversed,” such that she could deal 
with the Horowitzes on a pre-assessment, less urgent 
basis. These steps included raising the issue with the 
Appeals FBAR Coordinator, who instructed the FBAR 
Penalty Coordinator to “remove/reverse” the penalties. 
She initially reported that she had carried out the order. 
Later, though, in a trial-related declaration, the FBAR 
Penalty Coordinator changed her story, claiming that she 
never “removed/reversed” anything.
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The Horowitzes did not reach an acceptable settlement 
with the Appeals Officer and they did not voluntarily 
pay the FBAR penalties of approximately $1 million. 
Therefore, the DOJ started a collection action in District 
Court.

Regarding the key issue in the case, whether the 
FBAR violations for 2007 and 2008 were “willful,” the 
principal contentions of the parties were as follows. 
The Horowitzes denied that they had “actual knowl-
edge” of their FBAR duty because (i) they had spoken 
to other expatriates who told them, incorrectly, that 
income earned in Saudi Arabia was only taxed there, (ii) 
they did not even know what an FBAR was, and (iii) 
their accountants did not specifically ask about foreign 
accounts or explain the foreign-account question on 
Schedule B to Forms 1040. The DOJ, on the contrary, 
argued that the Horowitzes were willful because they 
executed the Forms 1040, Schedule B contained “sim-
ple instructions” and asked a “simple question” about 
the existence of foreign accounts, and the Horowitzes 
nonetheless checked “no” in response to the foreign-ac-
count inquiry.

In rendering its decision, the District Court looked 
primarily to the earlier holdings in Williams and 
McBride, identifying similarities and differences in 
the facts and circumstances of each case. Focusing on 
the Horowitzes, the District Court underscored sev-
eral points. First, they executed their Forms 1040 for 
2007 and 2008 declaring, under penalties of perjury, 
that they had reviewed them and they were true, accu-
rate, and complete. Second, Schedule B on Forms 1040 
contained the foreign-account question, followed by 
a cross-reference to instructions explaining the filing 
requirements and exceptions for FBARs. Third, while 
the Horowitzes might have listened to friends who 
opined, erroneously, about U.S. tax duties for expatri-
ates, the District Court lacked information to deter-
mine whether it was reasonable to accept such opinions, 
and, in all events, the views of friends cannot trump 
the “clear instructions” on Schedule B. Fourth, the fact 
that the Horowitzes discussed international tax matters 
with friends demonstrates their awareness of potential 
issues. Fifth, the failure by the Horowitzes to have a 
similar conversation with their accountants shows “a 
conscious effort to avoid learning about [FBAR] report-
ing requirements,” from which “willfulness blindness” 
can be inferred.

The District Court concluded that the Horowitzes 
“recklessly disregarded” the FBAR filing requirement, 
which “suffices for a finding of willfulness.” The District 
Court summarized its rulings as follows:

The Horowitzes have filed a cross-motion for sum-
mary judgment, arguing that the IRS reversed the 
[FBAR] penalties, such that the penalties the [DOJ] 
is trying to collect were not assessed until 2016, at 
which time they were untimely. They also argue that 
their failure to disclose was not willful—a point that 
would reduce the maximum penalties from 50% of 
the amount in the foreign account at the time of 
the violation to $10,000. Because the Horowitzes 
have not shown that the IRS actually reversed the 
penalties in 2014, they have not established that the 
statute of limitations ran before the penalties were 
assessed. Further, the undisputed facts show that 
their failure to disclose the UBS account on their 
2007 tax return was willful, and that Peter’s failure to 
disclose the Finter account on their 2008 tax return 
also was willful.

IV. Going Beyond the Main Holding in 
Horowitz

Horowitz contains some interesting issues, aside from 
the main holding about “willfulness,” which might affect 
future FBAR cases involving other taxpayers. A few of 
these issues are addressed below.

A. Potential $100,000 FBAR Penalty Cap
Relying mainly on Colliot, the Horowitzes insist that, 
even if their FBAR violations were willful, the penalties 
cannot exceed $100,000 per violation because, while 
Congress changed the applicable law in 2004 to increase 
the maximum penalty to 50 percent of the highest bal-
ance in the undisclosed account, the IRS never updated 
the applicable regulation (i.e., 31 CFR §103.27, which 
later became 31 CFR §1010.820(g)(2)) to implement 
this enhancement.

The District Court swiftly dismissed this contention, 
citing two recent cases, Norman and Kimble, which had 
“persuasively rejected” the earlier reasoning in Colliot. 
The District Court also referenced the portion of the 
current version of Internal Revenue Manual, stating that 
the maximum FBAR penalty for violations after 2004 is 
$100,000 or 50 percent of the balance in the account at 
the time of the violation, whichever amount is higher. 
Hedging somewhat on its need to give weight to the 
Internal Revenue Manual, the District Court, citing prec-
edent, acknowledged that the Internal Revenue Manual 
does not have the force of law and it is not binding for 
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the IRS, but it “has been used, on a limited basis, to pro-
vide guidance in interpreting terms in regulations.” The 
District Court concluded that the outdated regulation 
cannot be enforced in light of the conflict with the law 
in existence since 2004 and with the Internal Revenue 
Manual.

B. Quirky Issue Concerning FBAR Penalty 
Assessment Periods
The DOJ and the Horowitzes agreed on a couple 
things, namely, that the IRS assessed FBAR penal-
ties for 2007 and 2008 in a timely manner on June 
13, 2014, and that, because the Horowitzes signed 
the FBAR Penalty Assessment Period Extension, the 
deadline for assessing such penalties was pushed to 
December 31, 2015. Nevertheless, the Horowitzes 
contend that the FBAR penalties should be rebuffed 
by the District Court on summary judgment because 
(i) the penalties first assessed on June 13, 2014, were 
later “removed/reversed” by the IRS, and (ii) they were 
not assessed again until May 20, 2016, which was long 
after the extended deadline of December 31, 2015, had 
passed. For its part, the IRS concedes that the FBAR 
Penalty Coordinator took certain actions pursuant to 
the instructions of the IRS Appeals FBAR Coordinator, 
but argues that such actions were not tantamount to a 
removal/reversal of penalties.

The District Court held in favor of the IRS based 
on the following reasoning. Reviewing three different 
types of communications on the issue (i.e., internal IRS 
emails, declarations submitted to the District Court, 
and statements during a deposition), the District Court 
pointed out that the FBAR Penalty Coordinator was 
inconsistent. Because “undisputed facts” regarding the 
statements and actions of the FBAR Penalty Coordinator 
did not exist, the issue was not appropriate for resolu-
tion via summary judgment. Next, the District Court 
explained that the statute of limitations is an affirmative 
defense for the Horowitzes, meaning that they have the 
burden of proof on the issue. The District Court noted 
that the Horowitzes had not demonstrated that, even if 
the FBAR Penalty Coordinator had removed/reversed 
the initial FBAR penalties, that she had the authority 
to do so. Moreover, the District Court underscored that 
applicable law, regulations, and the Internal Revenue 
Manual all provide that an agency, like the IRS, must 
obtain approval from the DOJ before compromising a 
claim of the U.S. government of more than $100,000. 
Such prior DOJ approval was not obtained by the FBAR 
Penalty Coordinator.

The District Court summarized its holding as 
following:

[The Horowitzes] have not proven that the timely 
FBAR assessments were reversed or removed when 
[the FBAR Penalty Coordinator] altered the data, 
nor have they established that she had the authority 
to reverse an assessment. Consequently, they have 
not met their burden of proving that the statute 
of limitations ran before the FBAR penalties were 
assessed.

C. No Liability for Susan for 2008
One must understand the following crucial points to 
understand how Susan escaped an FBAR penalty for 
2008.

First, in Horowitz, the IRS assessed four separate FBAR 
penalties: (i) A penalty for 2007 against Peter for the 
UBS account; (ii) A penalty for 2007 against Susan for 
the UBS account; (iii) A penalty for 2008 against Peter 
for the Finter Bank account; and (iv) A penalty for 2008 
against Susan for the Finter Bank account.

Second, applicable law dictates that the FBAR pen-
alty is based on the amount in the unreported account 
at the “time of the violation.” This is contrasted by the 
fact that, when completing an FBAR, a taxpayer must 
disclose the highest balance in each foreign account at 
any point during the relevant calendar year. During 
the years at issue in Horowitz, 2007 and 2008, the 
deadline for filing an FBAR was June 30 of the year 
following the relevant calendar year. Thus, the 2007 
FBAR had to be filed by June 30, 2008, and the 2008 
FBAR by June 30, 2009. Any FBAR violations would 
have occurred only on those two dates, such that max-
imum FBAR penalties would have been calculated 
using such dates.

Third, the Horowitzes closed the UBS account in 
November 2008 and transferred all the funds to Finter 
Bank. Accordingly, as of the filing deadline for the 2008 
FBAR (i.e., June 30, 2009), the balance in the UBS 
account was $0. This means that, while the IRS could 
impose FBAR penalties for the joint UBS account for 
2007 (because there were funds in such account on June 
30, 2008), it was precluded from assessing large penalties 
concerning the UBS account for 2008.

Fourth, the IRS did not assess an FBAR penalty against 
Susan with respect to the UBS account for 2008, and it 
was not part of the District Court collection action ini-
tiated by the DOJ.

UNITED STATES V. HOROWITZ: SIXTH CASE ANALYZING “CONSTRUCTIVE KNOWLEDGE” AS DETERMINANT OF FBAR PENALTIES
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Fifth, a U.S. individual taxpayer, like Susan, can trig-
ger an FBAR reporting duty if she had a direct financial 
interest in, an indirect financial interest in, or signature 
or some other type of authority over an undisclosed 
foreign account. These, of course, are all terms of art, 
with specific meanings within the FBAR context. A U.S. 
person would be considered to have a “direct financial 
interest” in all accounts for which she is listed as the 
owner of the account (including situations where she 
is a joint owner with one or more other persons) and 
all accounts for which she has legal title, regardless of 
whether she holds the accounts for her personal benefit 
or for the benefit of others.42 In addition, a U.S. per-
son has an “indirect financial interest” in each foreign 
account for which the owner of record or the holder 
of legal title of the account is any of the following: (i) 
a person acting as an agent, nominee, attorney, or in 
some other capacity on behalf of the U.S. person with 
respect to the account; (ii) a corporation in which the 
U.S. person owns directly or indirectly more than 50 
percent of the voting power or the total value of the 
shares; (iii) a partnership in which the U.S. person owns 
directly or indirectly more than 50 percent of the inter-
est in profits or capital; (iv) any other entity (other than 
certain trusts described below) in which the U.S. person 
owns directly or indirectly more than 50 percent of the 
voting power, total value of the equity interest or assets, 
or interest in profits; (v) a trust, if the U.S. person is the 
trust grantor and has an ownership interest in the trust 
for U.S. tax purposes; and (vi) a trust in which the U.S. 
person either has a present beneficial interest in more 
than 50 percent of the assets or from which such person 
receives more than 50 percent of the current income.43 
Finally, a U.S. person has “signature or other author-
ity” over a foreign account if she has the ability (either 
alone or acting jointly with another person or persons) 
to control the disposition of money, funds, or assets held 
in a financial account by communicating (either orally 
or in writing) with the institution where the account is 
maintained.44

Sixth, although the Horowitzes intended for Susan to 
be a joint accountholder on the Finter Bank account, 
just as she was on the earlier UBS account, she was 
not officially listed as an accountholder and she did 
not provide the requisite “specimen signature” on the 
power of attorney form because she was not present 
in Switzerland, with Peter, when he opened the Finter 
Bank account.

Now, with the preceding key points in mind, it is time 
to turn to the analysis by the District Court on the issue 
of Susan’s liability. The IRS assessed an FBAR penalty 

against Susan for the Finter Bank account for 2008, the 
DOJ sought to collect it through the District Court, 
and Susan filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 
on grounds that she was not legally obligated to file an 
FBAR for the Finter Bank account for 2008.

The DOJ argued that Susan had both a financial inter-
est and signature authority over the Finter Bank account 
based on the “intent” of the Horowitzes to designate her 
as an accountholder, or, alternatively, as a power of attor-
ney. The DOJ further contended that Peter, the accoun-
tholder, was acting on behalf of Susan when he opened 
the Finter Bank account and transferred funds thereto 
from the joint UBS account, which suffices to give her 
an indirect financial interest in the Finter Bank account. 
This position was based on the relevant FBAR regula-
tion, summarized above, indicating that a U.S. person 
has an indirect financial interest in a foreign account 
if the accountholder, in this case Peter, was “acting as 
an agent, nominee, attorney, or in some other capacity 
on behalf of [Susan] with respect to the [Finter Bank] 
account.”

Susan countered that, despite their intent, the simple 
fact is that, because she did not travel to Switzerland 
and complete the necessary paperwork, she was not an 
accountholder, she was not a signatory, she did not have 
a duty to file an FBAR for 2008 reporting the Finter 
Bank account, and she could not be sanctioned for not 
doing so.

The District Court sided with Susan on this issue. It 
started by stating that “[t]aking money [from the UBS 
account] that was in Susan’s name and placing it in an 
account [at Finter Bank] that was not in her name can-
not, in any light, be seen as acting on her behalf.” Then, 
the District Court pointed out that the question would 
be whether Peter acted on Susan’s behalf “with respect 
to the [Finter Bank] account,” which means “after the 
Finter account existed.” This did not occur, explained 
the District Court, because Peter did not make any 
additional deposits, withdraw funds, or take any other 
actions concerning the Finter Bank account in 2008. The 
District Court thus concluded that “even if [Peter and 
Susan] intended for Susan to have a financial interest in 
the [Finter Bank] account and she ultimately gained that 
interest in 2009, she did not have a financial interest in 
the account in 2008.”

The District Court also held that Susan did not 
have signature or other authority over the Finter Bank 
account. The DOJ acknowledged that Susan could not 
exercise any power until she completed and supplied the 
“signature specimen,” which she did not do in 2008. 
Consequently, the District Court held that Susan lacked 
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authority over the Finter Bank account because she 
could not write to, or otherwise communicate with, 
Finter Bank to control the disposition of money or other 
assets.

The DOJ raised an alternative argument in a foot-
note, namely, if the District Court were to decide that 
Susan had no duty to report the Finter Bank account 
on the 2008 FBAR, she should still be penalized with 
respect to the UBS account for 2008, which she jointly 
owned with Peter until they closed it in November 
2008. The District Court demonstrated little sympathy 
to the DOJ on this point. It first emphasized that the 
IRS never assessed an FBAR penalty against Susan for 
the UBS account for 2008, and the collection action 
by the DOJ does not seek to collect such a penalty. The 
District Court next recognized that the DOJ’s desire to 
pursue penalties on the Finter Bank account was logical, 
because the balance in the UBS account at the time of 
the violation (i.e., June 30, 2009) was $0, and 50 per-
cent of this amount is still $0. The penalty against Susan 
for the undisclosed UBS account, therefore, would have 
been capped at $100,000. The District Court noted that 
the IRS essentially missed the boat by not realizing that 
it could not collect large FBAR penalties from Susan for 
2008.

Essentially, [the IRS] could have assessed approxi-
mately the same total penalty for 2008 ($494,060) 
by assessing a penalty of 50% of the account balance 
against Peter instead of an approximately 25% pen-
alty against each of [Peter and Susan]. This would 
have been a logical approach, given that before 
October 2008 and after October 2009, these were 
joint funds but Susan was not a Finter account 
owner in 2008. The outcome would have been that 
the couple, who jointly paid their taxes and main-
tained joint accounts for years, would, together, 
have had to pay the same amount of penalty that the 
[IRS] sought to recover by assessing a $247,030 pen-
alty against Susan for 2008. The [IRS] did not take 
this approach, however, and it cannot now collect on 
a penalty it did not assess.

D. Illustration of Recent IRS Penalty 
Policy
Horowitz is also interesting because it shows the IRS’s rel-
atively new philosophy with respect to FBAR penalties.

As indicated above, the highest balance in the UBS 
account, which was transferred to the Finter Bank 

account in November 2008, was about $1.95 million. 
The IRS assessed total FBAR penalties equal to 50 per-
cent of the balance, arriving at this figure by imposing 
penalties on Peter of $247,030 for 2007 and $247,030 
for 2008, and identical yet separate penalties on Susan. 
This is consistent with Memorandum SBSE-04-0515-
0025, called “Interim Guidance for Report of Foreign 
Bank and Financial Accounts (FBAR) Penalties.” The 
official purposes of such “Interim Guidance” were to 
improve the administration of the FBAR compliance 
program, ensure fairness and consistency in penalty 
amounts, and obligate IRS personnel to take into 
account all available facts and circumstances of each 
case.

The “Interim Guidance” provides the following 
instructions about situations involving willful FBAR vio-
lations. The portions most applicable to Horowitz have 
been marked.

For cases involving willful violations over multiple 
years, examiners will recommend a penalty for each 
year for which the FBAR violation was willful. In 
most cases, the total penalty amount for all years under 
examination will be limited to 50 percent of the high-
est aggregate balance of all unreported foreign financial 
accounts during the years under examination. In such 
cases, the penalty for each year will be determined 
by allocating the total penalty amount to all years for 
which the FBAR violations were willful based upon 
the ratio of the highest aggregate balance for each 
year to the total of the highest aggregate balances for 
all years combined, subject to the maximum pen-
alty limitation in 31 U.S.C. §5321(a)(5)(C) for each 
year.

Example. Assume highest aggregate balances of 
$50,000, $100,000, and $200,000 for 2010, 2011, 
and 2012, respectively. The total penalty amount is 
$100,000 (50 percent of the $200,000 highest aggre-
gate balance during the years under examination). 
The total of the highest aggregate balances for all 
years combined is $350,000. The penalty for 2010 
is $14,286 ($50,000/$350,000 × $100,000). The 
penalty for 2011 is $28,571 ($100,000/$350,000 
× $100,000). The penalty for 2012 is $57,143 
($200,000/$350,000 × $100,000). The penalty 
amounts for each year are subject to the maximum 
penalty limitation in 31 USC §5321(a)(5)(C).

The “Interim Guidance” also features instructions for 
cases involving unreported foreign accounts with more 
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than one U.S. owner. Again, the portions applicable to 
Horowitz have been marked.

Where there are multiple owners of an unreported 
foreign financial account, examiners must make a 
separate determination with respect to each co-owner 
of the foreign financial account as to whether there 
was a violation and, if so, whether the violation 
was willful or non-willful. For each co-owner against 
whom a penalty is determined, the penalty will be based 
on the co-owner’s percentage ownership of the highest 
balance of the foreign financial account. If examiners 
are unable to determine a co-owner’s percentage own-
ership, the penalty will be based on the amount deter-
mined by dividing the highest account balance equally 
among the co-owners.

In summary, Horowitz illustrates the application of the 
“Interim Guidance” on FBAR penalties, which was not 
available to help taxpayers involved in earlier cases.

E. District Court Gives No Credence to 
Contrary Decision in Flume
The docket sheet for Horowitz indicates that last action 
in the case, before the District Court issued its opinion, 
was the filing of a Notice of Subsequent Authority by the 
Horowitzes, informing the District Court about a new, 
relevant case, Flume.45

The relevant facts in Flume were as follows. Mr. Flume 
(“Husband”) and Mrs. Flume (“Wife”) were U.S. cit-
izens who moved to Mexico in 1993. Husband and 
Wife formed several foreign corporations while living 
in Mexico, one of which was Wilshire Holdings, Inc. 
(“Wilshire Belize”). In 2005, Wilshire Belize opened an 
account at UBS in Switzerland. The District Court con-
cluded that Husband and Wife had a reportable interest 
in the account because they opened it using Articles of 
Association showing Husband and Wife as equal own-
ers of Wilshire Belize, they were listed as the “beneficial 
owners” of the account, they controlled the investment 
activity in the account, and they signed the wire-trans-
fer orders in 2008 and 2009, as “Directors” of Wilshire 
Belize, to empty UBS account and remit all funds to a 
U.S. account.

In the early 2000s, Husband hired a U.S. return pre-
parer with offices in the United States and Mexico to 
prepare his Forms 1040. They prepared Forms 1040 for 
the relevant years, 2007 and 2008, disclosing only the 
existence of Husband’s account in Mexico, but not the 
larger account at UBS. Moreover, Husband did not file 

timely FBARs for 2007 or 2008. He filed them late, in 
June 2010, and even then, he seriously understated the 
value of the UBS account, missing the mark by approxi-
mately $600,000 one year.

There was conflicting testimony about whether, or 
precisely when, Husband told the accountants about the 
UBS account, but they all agreed that Husband never 
supplied any documents regarding such account. The 
accountants said that they first notified Husband about 
his FBAR obligation around 2003 or 2004, and sent him 
an annual letter thereafter reminding him. Husband, 
on the other hand, claimed that the accountants never 
informed him of FBAR duties until many years later, in 
2010.

Husband acknowledged to the District Court that 
he was not particularly diligent about his tax consider-
ations. Indeed, he did not read his Form 1040 “word for 
word” and he did not take the time to read the instruc-
tions from the IRS, expressly referenced in Schedule B, 
about FBAR filing requirements. He simply checked the 
income amount, which seemed appropriate, signed the 
Forms 1040, and trusted that the accountants had pre-
pared them accurately.

After an audit and assessment of willful FBAR penal-
ties by the IRS, litigation ensued in District Court. The 
DOJ filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, asking the 
District Court to rule that Husband willfully violated his 
duty to file FBARs for 2007 and 2008, because he (i) 
knowingly disregarded the FBAR duty, or (ii) recklessly 
ignored a high probability that he was breaking the law, 
even if he lacked specific knowledge about his FBAR 
duty.

The District Court indicated that the definition of 
“willfulness” in the civil FBAR context had only been 

It is likely that the IRS and DOJ, 
buoyed by the recent victories 
in Williams, McBride, Jarnagin, 
Norman, Kimble, and, now, Horowitz, 
will continue raising multiple 
legal theories to justify “willful” 
FBAR penalties, including that 
“constructive knowledge” suffices.
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thoroughly analyzed by a limited number of cases. The 
District Court then went on to examine the concept of 
“willfulness” under three different legal theories: actual 
knowledge, constructive knowledge, and reckless disre-
gard. We focus only on the second here.

Relying largely on McBride, the DOJ argued that 
Husband at least had constructive knowledge of his FBAR 
duty, because he signed his Forms 1040, which contained 
instructions to consult the FBAR filing requirements. 
The District Court refused to follow McBride for sev-
eral reasons, including the following. First, the District 
Court indicated that the constructive-knowledge theory 
ignores the distinction that Congress drew between will-
ful and non-willful FBAR violations: “If every taxpayer, 
merely by signing a tax return, is presumed to know the need 
to file an FBAR, it is difficult to conceive of how a violation 
could be non-willful.”

Second, the District Court announced that the con-
structive-knowledge theory is “rooted in faulty policy 
arguments.” The DOJ argued that ruling in favor of 
Husband would encourage taxpayers to sign Forms 1040 
without reading them in hopes of later avoiding any neg-
ative consequences from inaccuracies and would permit 
taxpayers to escape liability by simply claiming that they 
did not read what they were signing. The District Court 
flatly rejected the DOJ’s position, calling it “incorrect,” 
because the IRS can still impose a $10,000 penalty for 
each non-willful FBAR violation, and the IRS can still 
pursue taxpayers under a reckless-disregard theory. The 
District Court concluded as follows:

[T]here is no policy need to treat constructive 
knowledge as a substitute for actual knowledge … 
Accordingly, the Court will not hold that [Husband] 

had constructive knowledge—and that he owes the 
Government more than half a million dollars—
merely because he signed his tax returns under pen-
alties of perjury. The Government has thus failed to 
conclusively establish that [Husband] was willful on 
the ground that he knowingly disregarded his FBAR 
obligations.

The District Court in Horowitz did not mention Flume 
in its analysis, despite the fact that the case was brought 
to its attention about five months before it issued its 
opinion in January 2019.

V. Conclusion

The IRS and DOJ are busy these days reviewing large 
volumes of potential FBAR penalty cases in connection 
with taxpayers who opted-out of the OVDP, claimed 
that their FBAR violations were innocuous in their 
applications for the Streamline Domestic Offshore 
Procedure or Streamline Foreign Offshore Procedure, 
or got selected for audit after their previously-undis-
closed account data was supplied to the IRS by a foreign 
bank, whistleblower, a former “trusted” advisor looking 
to cut a deal, or someone else. It is likely that the IRS 
and DOJ, buoyed by the recent victories in Williams, 
McBride, Jarnagin, Norman, Kimble, and, now, 
Horowitz, will continue raising multiple legal theories 
to justify “willful” FBAR penalties, including that “con-
structive knowledge” suffices. Accordingly, for taxpayers 
facing current or future FBAR disputes, it is critical to 
stay apprised of all relevant cases, strengthen their fac-
tual and legal defenses, get experienced representation, 
and prepare for a protracted battle.
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